### No. S277211

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

### CITY OF LOS ANGELES,

### Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

### PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS, LLC,

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal of the State of California, Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B310118

On Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles County Case No. BC574690 The Honorable Elihu M. Berle, Presiding

### PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Whether courts' authority to impose monetary sanctions for misuse of the discovery process is limited to circumstances expressly delineated in a method-specific provision of the Civil Discovery Act, or whether courts have independent authority to impose monetary sanctions for such discovery misconduct, including under sections 2023.030 and 2023.010 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In the proceedings below, the City of Los Angeles sought to recover hundreds of millions of dollars that it had paid in a class settlement to resolve claims allegedly attributable to work LLP ("PwC") PricewaterhouseCoopers performed for the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power ("LADWP") to modernize its outdated billing system. The litigation that ensued, however, revealed that this settlement was a collusive sham engineered by the City Attorney's Office to extort millions from PwC. The entire case was orchestrated by the City Attorney's Office and its Special Counsel, Paul Paradis, who had served as counsel for the named plaintiff, drafted the class action complaint, and recruited an outside attorney to serve as nominal class counsel in exchange for a multi-million-dollar kickback. Four of the leading actors in this fraud, including Paradis, former Chief Assistant City Attorney Thomas Peters, and ex-LADWP General Manager David Wright, have since pleaded guilty to felonies ranging from bribery to aiding and abetting extortion for illegal activities in connection with the litigation against PwC.

The trial court ordered the City to pay \$2.5 million in sanctions to defray some of the more than \$8 million in expenses incurred by PwC as a direct result of the City's efforts to hide its fraud through a years-long pattern of discovery abuse. The court did so under Code of Civil Procedure section 2023.030, which states that "[t]he court may impose a monetary sanction ordering that one engaging in the misuse of the discovery process ... pay the reasonable expenses, including attorney's fees, incurred by anyone as a result of that conduct" (Code Civ. Proc., § 2023.030, subd. (a)), and section 2023.010, which defines "misuse[s] of the discovery process" sanctionable under section 2023.030 (*id.*, § 2023.010).<sup>1</sup> But the Court of Appeal majority, over a 35-page dissent, reversed the sanctions order, holding that the trial court acted "outside the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise specified, all statutory citations are of the Code of Civil Procedure.

bounds of [its] statutory authority" because "[t]he plain language of the statute requires sanctions under section 2023.030 to be authorized by another provision of the Discovery Act." (Op. at pp. 47, 49.)

The Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's judgment for at least three independent reasons.

*First*, the Court of Appeal majority's decision fundamentally misreads the text of section 2023.030 and undermines the legislative purpose undergirding the Civil Discovery Act. Section 2023.030 by its terms independently authorizes courts to impose monetary sanctions by providing that they "may" sanction "misuse[s] of the discovery process" (Code Civ. Proc., § 2023.030, subd. (a))—a term defined in section 2023.010. In reaching its contrary conclusion, the Court of Appeal majority relied on language in the introductory paragraph of section 2023.030 stating that courts may impose sanctions only "[t]o the extent authorized by the chapter governing any particular discovery method or any other provision of this title." (Code Civ. Proc., § 2023.030.) But while the Court of Appeal read that language to limit *when* a court may impose sanctions, it is more naturally read to limit the *type* or severity of sanctions that may be imposed for the misuses of the

discovery process described in section 2023.010. This distinction is confirmed both by the ordinary meaning of the term "[t]o the extent" and the structure of section 2023.030, which contains five subsequent subdivisions outlining increasingly severe sanctions that a court may impose, from monetary sanctions to terminating sanctions and contempt.

The Court of Appeal majority's decision would fatally undermine the core purpose underlying the Civil Discovery Act's sanctions provisions by leaving broad swaths of discovery misconduct beyond courts' power to discipline. While the discovery-method-specific provisions of the Discovery Act encompass certain discrete forms of misconduct, there inevitably arise situations that could arguably be "beyond the reach of the Rules" because the "entire course of conduct throughout the lawsuit evidence[s] bad faith and an attempt to perpetrate a fraud on the court." (Chambers v. NASCO, Inc. (1991) 501 U.S. 32, 51.) In these cases, the misconduct "create[s] a negative synergistic effect, rendering the degree of overall unfairness to defendant more than that flowing from the sum of the individual errors." (People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 847.) The Legislature doubtless intended courts to have authority to address such pervasive misconduct. In fact, it expressly "recognize[d] that other categories of abuse may develop" that could constitute a "misuse of the discovery process." (Reporter's Note to Section 2023.030.) The majority's opinion, however, undermines that clear legislative purpose.

Second, the trial court properly sanctioned the City under its inherent authority grounded in article VI, section 1 of the California Constitution. That provision bestows courts with the powers necessary to carry out their duty in our tripartite system of government of applying the law and administering justice in each of the cases before them. The Court of Appeal acknowledged that the trial court had the inherent authority to impose sanctions against the City here, but concluded that this authority extended only to *nonmonetary* sanctions. But that distinction finds no support in precedent—and even less in logic, as monetary sanctions are typically *less* severe than nonmonetary sanctions.

*Third*, even if the Court of Appeal majority correctly stated the rule governing courts' power to impose sanctions under the Discovery Act, this Court should still reverse the Court of Appeal's judgment and reinstate the trial court's sanctions award because the full amount awarded by the trial court is attributable to

13

conduct that is sanctionable under method-specific provisions of the Discovery Act. Although the trial court found that PwC incurred more than \$8 million in expenses for discovery and motions practice related to the City's discovery abuse (just a small portion of PwC's overall fees in this case), it awarded only a fraction of that amount as sanctions, which precludes any suggestion that the award was intended to punish the City. It is therefore beside the point whether *some* of the more than \$8 million in expenses incurred by PwC in investigating the City's fraud cannot be attributed to conduct specifically proscribed by method-specific provisions of the Discovery Act. What matters is whether the fraction of that amount awarded by the trial court can be. And the record here is clear that it can.

Consequently, the Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's judgment and remand with instructions to reinstate the trial court's sanctions award in full.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

#### I. Factual Background

The City of Los Angeles retained PwC in 2010 to help modernize LADWP's antiquated billing system. (5AA2337.) In the years after the new billing system went live, LADWP customers filed several lawsuits against the City alleging billing improprieties. (*Ibid.*) In an effort to shift the blame for those billing errors and extort tens of millions from PwC, the City, represented by the City Attorney's Office and its Special Counsel, Paul Paradis, Gina Tufaro, and Paul Kiesel, filed this action against PwC on March 6, 2015, alleging fraudulent inducement and breach of contract. (4AA1621–1622.)

Less than a month later, on April 1, a putative class action was filed against the City on behalf of LADWP customers in *Jones v. City of Los Angeles*, which was assigned to the same judge as this action. (4AA1607.) The lead plaintiff in that case, Antwon Jones, was an LADWP customer who had been overbilled by LADWP. (4AA1584.) Jones retained Paradis in December 2014 to file a lawsuit against the City related to overbilling (4AA1584– 1585), but unbeknownst to Jones, Paradis was then retained by the City to assist it in drafting a lawsuit on behalf of LADWP against PwC (4AA1586–1587).

Paradis introduced Jones to Ohio attorney Jack Landskroner, with whom he had previously worked as lead co-counsel in unrelated litigation, just six days before the *Jones v*. *City of Los Angeles* complaint was filed. (4AA1602–1603.) Despite Paradis's ongoing attorney-client relationship with both Jones and the City, he and then-Chief Deputy City Attorney James Clark engaged in settlement "negotiations" with his Jones co-counsel (Landskroner) immediately after the filing of that complaint, resulting in the submission of a preliminary class settlement to the trial court on August 7, 2015—before the City even filed an answer to the complaint, and before either party had engaged in any discovery. (4AA1609–1614.) The "settlement" provided that the City would pay the full costs of remediating any billing errors, as well as a staggering \$19 million in attorney's fees—even though the only legal work done in the case was the drafting of a sham complaint and bogus settlement negotiations. (4AA1615–1619; see also PwC's Request for Judicial Notice ("RJN"), Ex. A, Factual Basis for Plea Agreement for Paul O. Paradis at p. 24; id., Ex. C, Factual Basis for Plea Agreement for Thomas H. Peters at pp. 28–  $(29.)^2$  The City then asserted these amounts as its purported damages in the instant action and fraudulently demanded their recovery from PwC. (4AA1622.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All page numbers in citations of exhibits in PwC's Request for Judicial Notice refer to the numbers in the header of each document.

On January 20, 2017, the City produced a privilege log containing more than 19,000 entries, including a document labeled "Jones v. PwC—Initial Complaint—FINAL.doc" that the City claimed was protected by the attorney-client privilege. (4AA1625– 1626.) On February 3, 2017, PwC moved to compel production of more than 18,000 of those documents, including the *Jones v. PwC* complaint. (4AA1626.) Over the ensuing months, the parties' privilege disputes were narrowed until the *Jones* complaint was one of the only documents in dispute. (See PwC's RJN, Ex. A, Factual Basis for Plea Agreement for Paul O. Paradis at p. 21.)

When PwC filed a second motion to compel production of the Jones complaint on November 3, 2017, the City responded by falsely insisting that "PwC's attempt to suggest any collusion in the Jones case . . . is completely without merit and in bad faith." (4AA1635–1636.) Had the City produced the Jones v. PwC complaint, however, it would have instantly revealed the fraudulent nature of the settlement in Jones v. City of Los Angeles: The complaint showed on its face that the City's Special Counsel, Paradis and Kiesel, had served as Jones's counsel and drafted the Jones complaint against the City before handing it off to Landskroner. Paradis further misled the court by representing that "LADWP officials requested that outside counsel prepare a draft complaint alleging claims that could be brought by an LADWP rate payer against PwC" (*ibid.*), and by repeatedly failing to disclose his representation of Antwon Jones. (See PwC's RJN, Ex. A, Factual Basis for Plea Agreement for Paul O. Paradis at pp. 27–28; PwC's RJN, Ex. C, Factual Basis for Plea Agreement for Thomas H. Peters at pp. 29–30.)

The City doubled down on its lies at the December 4, 2017 hearing on PwC's motion to compel production of the *Jones v. PwC* complaint. Paradis represented that he had prepared the draft complaint *for the City*, not for Jones, and that Jones's name was on the draft complaint because, according to Paradis, it had been randomly selected from the names of LADWP customers who had complained about billing irregularities. (4AA1636–1637; 1RT20 ["There were several people who had been complaining to the Department . . . and Mr. Jones's name was one of them"].) The trial court reserved decision on the motion but granted PwC a person most qualified (PMQ) deposition of the City "to lay a foundation as to the party on behalf of whom the complaint was drafted and the reasons for it." (4AA1639.) Yet the City refused to produce a PMQ witness for the courtordered deposition. That willful disobedience led PwC to file another motion more than four months later, on May 25, 2018, resulting in another hearing on June 21, 2018, at which Judge Berle pointedly noted that he had "ordered the deposition already. I don't think it's necessary to issue a new order to state that I really mean what I already said." (1RT323; see also 4AA1641–1643.)

After further stalling, the City eventually produced then-Chief Assistant City Attorney Thomas Peters as its PMQ witness on September 13, 2018. (4AA1643.) But the City continued to thumb its nose at the trial court's orders, with Peters defiantly boasting that he "did *nothing* to prepare" for the deposition and neither looked for nor produced any of the documents called for by the deposition notice. (4AA1644–1647, italics added.) Worse still, Peters repeatedly perjured himself throughout the deposition by lying about how, for example, he directed Paradis to draft the *Jones v. PwC* complaint as a "thought experiment," and how he did not know if Jones "even had counsel." (4AA1646–1647.) All of that was demonstrably false, as demonstrated by Peters' own subsequent testimony in which he acknowledged that Paradis had represented Jones before drafting the *Jones* complaint. (4AA1647; see also PwC's RJN, Ex. C, Factual Basis for Plea Agreement for Thomas H. Peters at p. 27.) When PwC tried to question Peters about the City's knowledge of the pre-existing relationship between Paradis and Landskroner, Paradis (who was defending the deposition) improperly terminated the court-ordered deposition by unilaterally walking out with his client. (4AA1644– 1647.)

In another effort to evade the trial court's orders and cover up its wrongdoing, the City filed a motion seeking to prohibit PwC from deposing a PMQ witness regarding the *Jones v. PwC* complaint. (4AA1648.) That motion repeated the City's lies about the *Jones* complaint, this time adding an even more outrageous layer of falsity by insisting that "Jones was selected as a *fictitious* plaintiff." (4AA1648–1649, bold italics added.) As a result, PwC was forced to file yet another motion to compel, which also requested sanctions for the City's efforts to obfuscate discovery into the *Jones* complaint. (4AA1649.)

At the hearing on PwC's motion on December 5, 2018, Kiesel was finally forced to acknowledge on the City's behalf, for the first time, that "Special Counsel [Paradis and Kiesel] *did* have a relationship with Mr. Jones." (1RT1242.) But Kiesel falsely asserted that the relationship "was not adverse to the City of Los Angeles until Mr. Jones wanted to pursue an action against the City." (*Ibid.*) Even though that admission eviscerated the City's false claim of attorney-client privilege over the *Jones v. PwC* complaint, the City simply changed tack and improperly asserted that the mediation and common-interest privileges supposedly applied. (4AA1651, 1654.)

On January 24, 2019, the court granted PwC's motion to compel the City's continued PMQ deposition, ordered PwC to depose Antwon Jones, and ordered the City to produce all documents called for in the PMQ deposition notice. (4AA1655.) That order resulted in the City finally producing, on February 12, 2019, the cover and signature pages of the draft *Jones v. PwC* complaint. (4AA1656–1657.) Those pages explicitly identified the *City*'s Special Counsel—Paul Paradis, Gina Tufaro, and Paul Kiesel—as counsel for Antwon Jones, *the putative plaintiff suing the City*. (4AA1656.) The City did not, however, produce any other responsive documents, ignoring the other requests for production in the PMQ deposition notice and once again disobeying and violating the court's express order to do so. (4AA1656–1657.) Three months later, on April 26, 2019, the City produced a file labeled "Emails Responsive to PMQ" that Kiesel had given to Peters in advance of the continued PMQ deposition. (4AA1673– 1677.) That production demonstrated that Peters, who had defended the continued deposition of the City's PMQ witness on February 26, 2019, possessed—but did not disclose—relevant documents in advance of the continued PMQ deposition, in blatant violation of the court's order. (4AA1659, 1676–1677.) Those documents showed that Paradis had drafted Jones's complaint against the City while serving as the *City*'s Special Counsel, and that Landskroner's public role as Jones's counsel was part of an orchestrated fraud.

The continued PMQ deposition in February 2019 was a watershed in exposing the City's years-long pattern of discovery abuse, fraud, and criminality. The testimony of Clark, who served as the City's latest PMQ witness, flatly contradicted many of the City's previous sworn representations. (4AA1652–1653.) For example, Clark admitted that several members of the City Attorney's Office were aware *before* the *Jones v. City of Los Angeles* complaint was filed on April 1, 2015 that Paradis had an attorneyclient relationship with Jones; that Clark became aware of that fact in December 2014; that Paradis had recruited Landskroner to sue the City on Jones's behalf and introduced Landskroner to Jones just six days before Landskroner filed the fraudulent *Jones* complaint against the City; that Landskroner was referred the case because he would settle it on terms more favorable to the City than counsel representing the numerous other ratepayers who had sued LADWP; that Paradis "had prepared the earlier [*Jones*] Complaint"; and that Clark knew all along that Landskroner would immediately reach out to "settle" the case with the City. (4AA1660–1663.)

Shortly thereafter, at a March 4, 2019 hearing on the outstanding privilege issues, the trial court asked Landskroner direct questions about the attorney's fees he recovered in *Jones v*. *City of Los Angeles*, but Landskroner refused to answer, invoking the Fifth Amendment. (4AA1665.) The trial court then ordered Paradis and Landskroner to appear in court over the ensuing days for depositions by PwC's counsel. (*Ibid.*) Just two days later, on March 6, 2019, the City fired Special Counsel Paradis, Tufaro, and Kiesel. (4AA1665–1666.) But the City continued to conceal its earlier fraudulent misdeeds, insisting that its Special Counsel had acted alone and without the City's knowledge. (4AA1668–1669.)

To this end, the City had Clark walk back key testimony from his PMQ deposition in an errata containing 54 major "correct[ions]" to his testimony. (4AA1668.) Through this "errata," Clark recanted and qualified many of his most damning admissions, including that he knew before April 1, 2015 that the City's Special Counsel, Paradis, had recruited Landskroner to represent Jones in an action to be brought against the City. (4AA2051.) Clark changed his testimony to assert that he understood in March 2015 that Paradis had recruited Landskroner to sue <u>PwC</u>, not the City. (4AA2050–2051.) That change was entirely inconsistent with Clark's other testimony. (See 4AA1668–1670.)<sup>3</sup>

The dramatic 180-degree reversals and alterations to Clark's deposition testimony necessitated two more depositions of Clark on April 9 and April 29, 2019. (4AA1672, 1675.) At those depositions, Clark continued to contradict and recant his earlier testimony against the City and falsely disclaimed knowledge of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example, Clark's errata changed his testimony from acknowledging that he knew a settlement demand would be forthcoming from Jones before the filing of the Jones v. City of Los Angeles complaint to denying that Jones would demand a settlement. (4AA1669.) Yet that still conflicted with Clark's testimony that he expected, before the Jones complaint was filed, that the City would settle with Jones. (Ibid.)

City's fraudulent *Jones* scheme. (4AA1675–1676.) These further recantations led to an additional *eighteen* fact witness depositions, which accounted for a large portion of the more than \$8 million in fees that PwC would eventually seek as sanctions. (3RT4837.)

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