Case No. S277211

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

CITY OF LOS ANGELES,
Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS, LLC,
Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal of the State of California,
Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B310118
On Appeal From the Superior Court for Los Angeles County
Case No. BC574690 • The Honorable Elihu M. Berle, Presiding

CITY OF LOS ANGELES' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

*Kathryn L. McCann (SBN 245198)

Jason Y. Kelly (SBN 274144)

Annaguey McCann LLP

10880 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 1101

Los Angeles, California 90024

Telephone: (424) 431-0078

Facsimile: (310) 307-4701

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal’s decision should be affirmed. A court has no authority to impose monetary sanctions for discovery misuse under Sections 2023.010 and 2023.030, or pursuant to a trial court’s inherent authority. Rather, the statute’s plain language and legislative history confirm that monetary discovery sanctions are available only where authorized by other, method-specific provisions of the Civil Discovery Act. Reversing the Court of Appeal—despite the Civil Discovery Act’s plain language, history, and statutory context—would create

uncertainty and upset the Legislature’s intent of decreasing discovery disputes and motion practice.

I. A Court’s Authority To Impose Monetary Discovery Sanctions Is Limited To Circumstances Delineated In The Civil Discovery Act’s Method-Specific Provisions

A. California’s Rules Of Statutory Interpretation

The Court’s process of interpreting a statute is well established. “[O]ur fundamental task here is to determine the Legislature’s intent so as to effectuate the law’s purpose.” (*Skidgel v. Cal. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd.* (2021) 12 Cal.5th 1, 14 [quoting *People v. Murphy* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 136, 142].)

The Court begins “by examining the statutory language, giving it a plain and commonsense meaning. [It] do[es] not, however, consider the statutory language in isolation; rather, [it] look[s] to the entire substance of the statutes in order to determine their scope and purposes.” (*Id.* at p. 14 [internal citations and quotations omitted].) The Court “construe[s] the words in question in context” and “must harmonize the various parts of the enactments by considering them in the context of the statutory [framework] as a whole.” (*Ibid.* [internal citations and

quotations omitted]; see also *Cal. Mfrs. Ass’n v. Pub. Utilities Comm’n* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 836, 844.)

“[W]e give significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an act in pursuance of the legislative purpose.” (*Smith v. Super. Ct.* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 83 [internal quotations omitted].) “Interpretive constructions which render some words surplusage, defy common sense, or lead to mischief or absurdity, are to be avoided.” (*Cal. Mfrs. Ass’n, supra*, 24 Cal.3d at p. 844 [collecting cases].) “It is well settled, also, that a general provision is controlled by one that is special, the latter being treated as an exception to the former. A specific provision relating to a particular subject will govern in respect to that subject, as against a general provision, although the latter, standing alone, would be broad enough to include the subject to which the more particular provision relates.” (*Muller v. Fresno Cmty. Hosp. & Med. Ctr.* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 887, 906 [quoting *Rose v. State* (1942) 19 Cal.2d 713, 723-724].)

“If the statutory language is unambiguous, then its plain meaning controls.” (*Skidgel, supra*, 12 Cal.5th at p. 14 [quoting *Cole, supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 975]; see also *Madrigal v. Hyundai Motor Am.* (2023) 90 Cal.App.5th 385, 407 [“courts will not

interpret away clear language in favor of an ambiguity that does not exist”] [internal quotations omitted].) “This court has no power to rewrite the statute so as to make it conform to a presumed intention which is not expressed. . . . If the statutory language contains no ambiguity, the Legislature is presumed to have meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the statute governs.” (*Stephens v. Cty. of Tulare* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 793, 801-802 [internal quotations omitted]; see also *Cal. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. City of Los Angeles* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 342, 349.)

“If, however, the language supports more than one reasonable construction, then we may look to extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved and the legislative history.” (*Skidgel, supra*, 12 Cal. 5th at p. 14 [quoting *Cole, supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 975].)

As discussed below, under these rules of statutory interpretation, the statutory provisions at issue do not authorize, by themselves, imposition of monetary discovery sanctions.

B. The Plain Language Of The Civil Discovery Act Confirms The Court Of Appeal’s Decision

Sections 2023.010 and 2023.030 of the Civil Discovery Act are unambiguous: they do not authorize courts to impose

monetary sanctions for discovery misconduct. Instead, they direct the reader to apply those sections containing method-specific provisions.

The Civil Discovery Act, which governs pretrial discovery in a civil action in California, sets forth six approved methods of obtaining discovery: (a) depositions, (b) interrogatories, (c) inspections of documents, things, and places, (d) physical and mental examinations, (e) requests for admission, and (f) exchanges of expert trial witness information. (*Catholic Mutual Relief Soc’y v. Super. Ct.* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 358, 366 [citing Code Civ. Proc., § 2016.010, et seq.]; Code Civ. Proc., § 2019.010.) Different chapters of the Civil Discovery Act govern each of these methods. (Code Civ. Proc., §§ 2025.010-2034.730.) For example, Chapter 13 governs written interrogatories (*id.*, §§ 2030.010, et seq.), and Chapter 15 physical and mental examinations (*id.*, §§ 2032.010, et seq.).

“The statutes governing each discovery method authorize particular types of sanctions in particular circumstances.” (*New Albertsons, Inc. v. Super. Ct.* (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 1403, 1423; see also *London v. Dri-Honing Corp.* (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 999, 1006 [“Given the unique parameters of each discovery method,

discovery sanctions are available under different circumstances and for different types of abuses in each method’s statute.”.) For example, Chapter 13 mandates that trial courts shall impose monetary sanctions, absent substantial justification, against a party “who unsuccessfully makes or opposes a motion to compel a response to interrogatories” (Code Civ. Proc., § 2030.290, subd. (c)) or “who unsuccessfully makes or opposes a motion for a protective order under [Section 2030.090]” (*id.*, § 2030.090, subd. (d)). And Chapter 15 authorizes trial courts to impose monetary sanctions, absent substantial justification, against a party “who unsuccessfully makes or opposes a motion to compel compliance with a demand for a physical examination.” (*Id.*, § 2032.250, subd. (b).)

Sections 2023.010 and 2023.030 are not part of any method-specific chapter; they are found in Chapter 7, “Sanctions.” As the first section in Chapter 7, Section 2023.010 lists nine examples of “[m]isuses of the discovery process.” (*Id.*, § 2023.010.) Section 2023.010 does not contain the sanctions-related language found in the Civil Discovery Act’s other provisions specific to discovery methods, *i.e.*, the “court shall impose a monetary sanction under Chapter 7 (commencing with

Section 2023.010) against any party, person, or attorney who” (E.g., *id.*, §§ 2030.090, subd. (d), 2031.310, subd. (h), 2031.320, subd. (b).) In other words, Section 2023.010 merely lists types of discovery misuse. (2 Hogan & Weber, *Cal. Civil Discovery* (2 ed. 2005) Sanctions, § 15.1 [“statutory preamble or policy statement identifying generally the classes of undesirable conduct”].) Nothing in Section 2023.010 authorizes, mandates, or empowers courts with any authority to impose sanctions, including monetary sanctions, for discovery misuse. (See Code Civ. Proc., § 2023.010.)

Meanwhile, Section 2023.030 describes the types of sanctions that are available when authorized by another provision of the Civil Discovery Act. (*Id.*, § 2023.030; see also *London, supra*, 117 Cal.App.4th at p. 1006.) Section 2023.030 begins with the following clause that limits the rest of the statute: “*To the extent authorized by the chapter governing any particular discovery method or any other provision of this title, the court . . . may impose the following sanctions against anyone engaging in conduct that is a misuse of the discovery process.*” (Code Civ. Proc., § 2023.030 [emphasis added].) Section 2023.030 then describes the types of sanctions available under the Civil

Discovery Act, including “monetary sanction,” “issue sanction,” “evidence sanction,” “terminating sanction,” and “contempt sanction.” (*Id.*, § 2023.030, subds. (a)-(e); see also *Moofly Prods., LLC v. Favila* (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 1, 10; *New Albertsons, supra*, 168 Cal.App.4th at p. 1422.) “This means that the statutes governing the particular discovery methods limit the permissible sanctions to those sanctions provided under the applicable governing statutes.” (*Moofly Prods., supra*, 46 Cal.App.5th at pp. 10-11 [quoting *New Albertsons, supra*, 168 Cal.App.4th at p. 1422].)

Based on its plain language, Section 2023.030 does not authorize any sanctions, including monetary sanctions; instead, the sanctions language in the Civil Discovery Act’s method-specific provisions authorize sanctions described in Section 2023.030. (See Code Civ. Proc., § 2023.030.)

To read Sections 2023.010 and 2023.030 as authorizing monetary discovery sanctions on their own would make superfluous not only Section 2023.030’s language requiring authorization by another section, but also the sanctions provisions of those chapters governing the specific discovery methods. (*Cal. Mfrs. Ass’n, supra*, 24 Cal.3d at p. 844

["Interpretive constructions which render some words surplusage . . . are to be avoided."] Trial courts would not need to consult or comply with the sanctions-related limitations and requirements that the Legislature included in the method-specific provisions. Instead, parties and trial courts could cite and rely on only Sections 2023.010 and 2023.030 to impose monetary sanctions for discovery abuse without regard to the specific requirements set forth in the method-specific provisions. Such an interpretation would essentially circumvent the Legislature's decision to make the "statutes governing each discovery method authorize particular types of sanctions in particular circumstance." (*New Albertsons, supra*, 168 Cal.App.4th at p. 1423; see also *Moofly Prods., supra*, 46 Cal.App.5th at pp. 10-11.)

Reversing the Court of Appeal would also reverse the "well settled" understanding that "[a] specific provision relating to a particular subject will govern in respect to that subject, as against a general provision" (*Muller, supra*, 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 906 [quoting *Rose, supra*, 19 Cal.2d at pp. 723-724] ["Thus, we must look to section 2034.300, subdivision (b) and not the general provisions providing for sanctions for 'conduct that is a misuse of the discovery process' found in Code of Civil

Procedure section 2023.030.”].) Here, Sections 2023.010 and 2023.030—found in the general “Sanctions” chapter of the Civil Discovery Act—are “controlled” by the narrower method-specific provisions. (*Ibid.*) The sanctions provisions in the Civil Discovery Act’s method-specific provisions “govern in respect to that subject [of sanctions], as against a general provision” like Section 2023.010 or Section 2023.030. (*Ibid.*)

Because the Civil Discovery Act is unambiguous, “the Legislature is presumed to have meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the language governs.” (*Madrigal, supra*, 90 Cal.App.5th at p. 407.)

C. The Civil Discovery Act’s Legislative History Further Bolsters The Court Of Appeal’s Decision

Even if there were some ambiguity in Sections 2023.010 and 2023.030, the Court of Appeal should still be affirmed.

“If . . . the language supports more than one reasonable construction, then we may look to extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved and the legislative history.”

(*Skidgel, supra*, 12 Cal.5th at p. 14 [quoting *Cole, supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 975]; see also *Cal. Mfrs. Ass’n, supra*, 24 Cal.3d at p. 844.) The Court can “examine the legislative history and

statutory context of the act under scrutiny.” (*Sand v. Super. Ct.* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 567, 570 [collecting cases].)

In this case, the Reporter’s Notes and other extrinsic aids bolster the Court of Appeal’s decision. The Reporter’s Notes for a statute are “entitled to great weight in construing the statute and in determining the intent of the Legislature.” (*London, supra*, 117 Cal.App.4th at p. 1008 fn. 2; *Wilcox v. Birtwhistle* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 973, 980; see also *Schreiber v. Estate of Kiser* (1999) 22 Cal.4th 31, 35-39 [relying on Reporter’s Notes to interpret Civil Discovery Act].) Professor James E. Hogan, who was the reporter to the joint commission charged with drafting the Civil Discovery Act, wrote the statute’s Reporter’s Notes. (*Schreiber, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 35; *London, supra*, 117 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1007-1008; see also Donovan, *The Sanction Provision of the New California Civil Discovery Act, Section 2023: Will It Make a Difference or Is It Just Another “Paper Tiger”?* (1988) 15 Pepperdine L.Rev. 401, 401 fn. 2, 402 fn. 9.) Professor Hogan and the Reporter’s Notes confirm that Section 2023.010 and 2023.030 are illustrative and definitional, and that they do not independently authorize trial courts to impose monetary discovery sanctions.

The Reporter’s Note for what is now Section 2023.010 explains that this provision was “arguabl[y] . . . unnecessary” because of “the detailed regulations of the discovery process in the various sections governing the individual methods of discovery.” (Reporter’s Note to Section 2023, subd. (a).)⁵ As the reporter to the joint commission charged with drafting the Civil Discovery Act later wrote: This is “essentially a statutory preamble or policy statement identifying generally the classes of undesirable conduct that prompted the 1986 revision of California’s civil discovery system.” (2 Hogan & Weber, *supra*, § 15.1; see also Op. at p. 45.) Nevertheless, the commission included Section 2023.010 to be “illustrative,” “list[ing] in a general way the major categories of actions that it regards as an abuse.” (Reporter’s Note to Section 2023, subd. (a); see also 2 Hogan & Weber, *supra*, § 15.1 [“[T]his catalog of the nine types of discovery misuse ultimately adds nothing substantive to the Civil Discovery Act.”].) In no way does Section 2023.010 grant

⁵ “Code of Civil Procedure former section 2023 was repealed effective July 1, 2005, and reenacted without substantive changes as sections 2023.010, 2023.020, 2023.030, and 2023.040.” (*Muller, supra*, 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 905 fn. 23.) Former Section 2023, subdivision (a) is now Section 2023.010; and former Section 2023, subdivision (b) is now Section 2023.030.

trial courts any authority to impose sanctions, including monetary sanctions.

Section 2023.030 is a “Definition Provision.” (2 Hogan & Weber, *Cal. Civil Discovery* (2 ed. 2005) Sanctions, § 15.2 [emphasis omitted].) The Reporter’s Note for what is now Section 2023.030 specifically describes the statute as “mainly definitional in function.” (Reporter’s Note to Section 2023, subd. (b); see also 2 Hogan & Weber, *supra*, § 15.2 [“Section 2023.030 is thus principally a definitional statute”].) Section 2023.030 explains what the various types of sanctions described throughout the Civil Discovery Act mean. (Reporter’s Note to Section 2023, subd. (b).) Thus, “it is only a lexicon.” (2 Hogan & Weber, *supra*, § 15.2; see also Op. at pp. 48-49.)

Other provisions in the Civil Discovery Act describe the “sanctions that may be imposed for any particular discovery dereliction . . . simply as,” *inter alia*, “monetary sanction,” “followed by a cross-reference to [Section 2023.030] to ascertain just what those terms mean.” (Reporter’s Note to Section 2023, subd. (b).) Section 2023.030 “enables the Commission to implement in a manageable way its decision that the sanctions available for a particular breach of a discovery duty should be

specified in any particular section of the Discovery Act that creates that duty.” (*Ibid.*)⁶ In other words, as Professor Hogan explained in a treatise, Section 2023.030 is a “general statute” that “names and defines the various sanctions that might be available for misuse of discovery. Then, in the individual statutes that regulate each discovery device, it specifies which of those sanctions are available for specific misuses of that device.” (2 Hogan & Weber, *supra*, § 15.2; see also Op. at p. 49.)

This statutory structure reflected a deliberate and “significant[]” change for the Legislature. (*London, supra*, 117 Cal.App.4th at p. 1006.) “Under the original discovery act, the statutes governing particular discovery methods did not discuss sanctions. [Internal citation.] Rather, a single statute defined the different types of discovery sanctions and explained which of these sanctions were available for each discovery abuse.” (*Ibid.* [citing 2 Hogan & Weber, *supra*, § 15.2]; see also Donovan, *supra*, 15 Pepperdine L.Rev. at p. 408.) The Legislature changed this

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